FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 3/2/2018 4:36 PM

Supreme Court No. <u>95602-2</u> (COA No. 73352-4-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

EZEKIAL WATKINS,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Ezekial Watkins, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated below, pursuant to RAP 13.3(a)(1) and RAP 13.4(b).

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Watkins seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision dated December 11, 2017, for which reconsideration was denied on January 31, 2018, copies of which are attached as Appendix A and B.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Ezekial Watkins is a young man whose significant neurological defects give him cognitive abilities at the level of a nine-year-old. The police obtained a statement from him using suggestive, deliberate interview tactics that many police departments condemn. The hourslong statement extracted by police was central evidence to convince the jury of his culpability for the charged crime.

1. A waiver of *MirandaError! Bookmark not defined*. rights must be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Mr. Watkins has a nine-year-old child's cognitive ability and is particularly suggestible. Police detectives held in him a small interview room and deliberately used coercive techniques to obtain a confession. The trial court disliked the

police techniques but found no case law condemning these tactics.

Should this Court review the propriety of this interview process as a violation of the protections required by *Miranda* and a matter of substantial public interest?

- 2. Deliberately burying *Miranda* warnings in the middle of an interrogation undermines their effectiveness and violates their purpose, as the United States Supreme Court held in *Missouri v. Seibert*, 542 U.S. 600, 124 S.Ct. 2601, 159 L.Ed.2d 643 (2004). Detectives purposefully withheld *Miranda* warnings from Mr. Watkins until thier lengthy interrogation process elicited his admissions to criminal offenses, then they minimized the rights and continued questioning without a break. Did the police undermine the *Miranda* warnings by an intentional two-step interview process, contrary to *Seibert*? This Court has never addressed *Seibert* to guide courts when police deliberately delay *Miranda* warnings. The Court of Appeals relied on a pre-*Seibert* case. Does substantial public interest favor review?
- 3. A search warrant authorizes taking only specified items for which the police have established probable cause to seize. The warrant to search Mr. Watkins' home allowed the police to gather "any other items" at the detective's discretion. Was this catchall warrant overbroad

and contrary to the particularity requirements of the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7?

4. A court may only remove a seated juror during trial due to a juror's bias or inability to serve. Over defense objection, the court struck a seated juror who asked for a short break to check on his injured mother during a months-long trial, an accommodation the court made for itself and others. The court removed the juror even though the likely delay was minor and would not have impacted the trial. Did the court improperly remove a selected and sworn juror without just cause, contrary to this Court's precedent?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ezekial Watkins is a young man who is "substantially impaired cognitively." CP 187. Neurological expert Dr. Richard Adler found "significant" and "abnormal" frontal lobe deficits and had never seen a more "negatively affected" brain imaging scan than Mr. Watkins's. 2/25/15RP 3142; CP 180.

Based on reports to police that Mr. Watkins killed his former girlfriend, police detectives deliberately arranged an interview room under the protocol of the Reid interrogation method to question him at length. 1/14/17RP 17; Opening Brief at 14-19, 23-25. The detectives

withheld *Miranda* warnings until after they secured a confession, telling him his story "didn't make sense" and this was his "opportunity" to be truthful and continued to press for more details. CP 258-59. Only after getting an actual confession to involvement in causing her death, as well as admissions he buried her body, they gave *Miranda* warnings. CP 263. But the detective told Mr. Watkins with warnings was given, "just so you know," took no break to highlight the decision-making required by *Miranda*, and instead told Mr. Watkins they would "continue" to talk about the incident. CP 263.

At trial, Mr. Watkins presented his diminished capacity and his belief he was acting in reasonable self-defense, based on how he perceived events. CP 685, 699; 3/3/15RP 3318, 3637-38. He was convicted of the most serious charge, first degree murder. CP 711.

Pertinent facts are contained in the argument sections herein as well as the Opening Brief of Appellant.

E. ARGUMENT

1. The police circumvented protections for suspects with substantial cognitive deficits who are readily manipulated by police. This Court should grant review.

The prosecution has a heavy burden to prove an accused person knowingly and voluntarily waived his *Miranda* rights. *Miranda* v.

Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 475, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966). It must show a suspect was aware of "the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it." Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 421, 106 S.Ct. 1135, 89 L.Ed.2d 410 (1986).

Determining whether a suspect knowingly and intelligently waived his right to remain silent depends on the suspect's subjective level of understanding. *North Carolina v. Butler*, 441 U.S. 369, 374, 99 S.Ct. 1755, 60 L.Ed.2d 286 (1979). "A defendant's mental capacity directly bears upon the question whether he understood the meaning of his *Miranda* rights and the significance of waiving his constitutional rights." *United States v. Garibay*, 143 F.3d 534, 538 (9th Cir. 1998).

To assess the voluntariness of a statement obtained by the police, the court must weigh the tactics and setting of the interrogation alongside any particular vulnerabilities of the suspect. *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 226, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 36 L.Ed.2d 854 (1973). Relevant factors include the suspect's age, low intelligence, and educational deficits. *Id.* The court must also consider the lack of advice of to the suspect of his constitutional rights and the person's familiarity with the criminal justice system. *Id.*

In juveniles, evaluating the totality of the circumstances "includes evaluation of the juvenile's age, experience, education, background, and intelligence, and into whether he has the capacity to understand the warnings given him, the nature of his Fifth Amendment rights, and the consequences of waiving those rights." *Fare v. Michael C.*, 442 U.S. 707, 725, 99 S.Ct. 2560, 61 L.Ed.2d 197 (1979). The Supreme Court has made clear that juvenile confessions induced by police call for "special care" in evaluating voluntariness. *See J.D.B. v. North Carolina*, 564 U.S. 261, 277, 131 S.Ct. 2394, 180 L.Ed.2d 310 (2011); *Haley v. Ohio*, 332 U.S. 596, 599, 68 S.Ct. 302, 92 L.Ed.2d 224 (1948).

The "fundamental differences" between the brains of young people and adults do not disappear when a minor becomes an adult. *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 692, 358 P.3d 359 (2015). A young adult who has not reached full neurological maturity is likely to be less able to make reasonable, intelligent choices such as made by a reasonable adult. *Id.* at 692-93. Although Mr. Watkins was a young adult when questioned by police, he had numerous deficits in his cognitive functioning and was like a six to nine year old in his comprehension. 1/15/15RP 258, 262.

The voluntariness inquiry requires a full consideration of the compounding influence of the police techniques "as applied to *this* suspect." *Miller v. Fenton*, 474 U.S. 104, 116, 106 S.Ct. 445, 88 L.Ed.2d 405 (1985) (emphasis in original).

This Court should grant review to address the necessary inquiry into whether Mr. Watkin's statement to police was properly obtained voluntarily and consistent with his constitutional rights under the Fifth Amendment and the protections of article I, section 9.

2. This Court should address the constitutional implications of deliberately delayed *Miranda* warnings used to extract a confession from a substantially impaired suspect in an hours-long police station interview.

Custodial interrogation must be preceded by *Miranda* warnings for a statement to be admissible at trial. Determining whether a police interrogation is custodial rests on the totality of circumstances.

Thompson v. Keohane, 516 U.S. 99, 112 & n.11, 116 S.Ct. 457, 133

L.Ed.2d 383 (1995). The Court of Appeals placed undue weight on the single comment made to Mr. Watkins that the police told him one time that he "was free to leave" at the start of the station house questioning to conclude the lengthy interrogation by two detectives in a closed room was not custodial. It also cast aside the deliberate delay of

Miranda warnings as not an "infrequent" tactic, contrary to the Supreme Court's criticism of this very practice in Seibert.

a. Questioning a person for hours in a police interview room to extract his involvement in causing a death is custodial.

In a case with circumstances, the Third Circuit ruled police questioning was custodial. *United States v. Jacobs*, 431 F.3d 99 (3rd Cir. 2005). In *Jacobs*, the police told the suspect he was free to leave, but there was not "pro or con" in the custodial analysis because the police said nothing more about it. 431 F.3d at 106. In fact, Jacobs was free to leave and she left "without hindrance." *Id.* It is also relevant whether the person is told he did not need to answer questions, and Mr. Watkins was not told this. *See Morton v. United States*, 125 A.3d 683, 690 (D.C. 2015) (custodial nature of interrogation includes whether police say do not "have to answer questions posed by the police").

Instead of giving outsized weight to one comment at the start of the interview, *Jacobs* emphasized three critical factors for courts to weigh in determining whether a person is in custody that the Court of Appeals disregarded. First, "station house interrogations" are far more likely to induce the psychological compulsion and pressure to answer questions associated with custody. 431 F.3d at 105. Second, the court

considers what the interrogating police knew about the suspect's culpability, because if the police have evidence against the suspect, it tends to create "the kind of atmosphere of significant restraint that triggers *Miranda* and *vice versa*." *Id*. The third factor is whether the police conveyed to the suspect by word or deed their belief in the person's guilt. *Id*.

For Mr. Watkins, these factors demonstrate custodial interrogation. First, he was questioned in a small closed police room surrounded by two officers, which is "most apt" to create psychological compulsion and police intimidation. *Id.* He was told once, at the start, he could leave, but he would have to travel through a police station and out a door that was locked when he entered. Slip op. at 7. He was not told he did not have to answer questions, but rather told the police knew his was lying. *See* Ex. 60 at 44("I know answers to questions before I ask them . . . I'm giving you an opportunity to be truthful with me."); *see also* Ex. 60 at 26, 31-32, 43, 44 (similarly requesting "the truth").

Second, the interrogating police already intended to arrest Mr. Watkins and this pre-existing inculpatory information determined their interview tactics, indicating custodial interrogation. *Jacobs*, 431 F.3d at 105. Third, the police told Mr. Watkins they knew he was lying,

displaying phone records from the incident and a shovel like the one used to bury Ms. Chou. No one would feel free to leave. 431 F.3d at 105-06.

Mr. Watkins' situation is far different from *Oregon v*.

Mathiason, 429 U.S. 492, 97 S.Ct. 711, 50 L.Ed.2d 714 (1977), the case on which the Court of Appeals drew a false parallel when in fact, *Mathiason* demonstrates the custodial nature of Mr. Watkin's interrogation. In *Mathiason*, a parolee agreed to speak with an officer at the stationhouse. *Id.* at 493. Within a mere five minutes of entering the station, he was told he was not under arrest, asked to tell the truth, and he confessed. *Id.*

The *Mathiason* Court deemed this interrogation non-custodial because it was brief, the defendant was told he was not under arrest and he was not in fact arrested, and he came voluntarily. *Id.* at 494.

There are constitutionally critical differences between *Mathiason* and Mr. Watkins's case, demonstrating the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with it. Unlike the key factor of *Mathiason*'s brief interview, five minutes from start of contact to confession, police pressed Mr. Watkins for almost two hours before the court deemed the interview "custodial" and he received *Miranda* warnings. 1/14/15RP

17-149. For nearly two hours, they pressed Mr. Watkins for details, continually told Mr. Watkins he had to stop lying, and got him to admit he illegally buried a dead body all before *Miranda* warnings. CP 230-249. Two or more detectives sat close to Mr. Watkins and questioned him, unlike the single officer in *Mathiason*. 1/14/15RP 11; Ex. 60 at 1. The police never told Mr. Watkins he would not be arrested, unlike *Mathiason*. And Mr. Mathiason did not lack intellectual skills and was not completely inexperienced with being accused of a crime, as was Mr. Watkins who had never been arrested before.

Not only was Mr. Watkins hampered in his decision-making skills by having the intellectual ability of a young child, the police used the Reid Interrogation method which even the trial court disliked.

129/16RP 108. This tactic relies heavily on false evidence ploys and deceit to elicit a confession, leading to wrongful convictions. The Marshall Project, *The Seismic Change in Police Interrogations* (Mar. 7, 2017), available at: https://www.themarshallproject.org/2017/03/07/theseismic-change-in-police-interrogations#.rC9thbbFa (last viewed Mar. 2, 2018).

The trial court disliked the Reid technique used, but found no cases deeming it illegal. 1/29/15RP 108, CP 627.

Mr. Watkins' interrogation became custodial, if not at the outset than at least far before close to two hours passed while he was pressed to tell the truth and told he was not doing so. No reasonable person in Mr. Watkins' shows would have believed he was free to leave. This Court should grant review of the methods used to extract a confession without *Miranda* warnings.

b. This Court should address the deliberate delay of Miranda warnings until after extracting admissions of criminal acts in a long and purposeful interview.

The police deliberately withheld *Miranda* warnings until Mr. Watkins confessed to being involved in causing Ms. Chou's death, downplayed those warnings, and never gave Mr. Watkins any break to consider the import of the warnings. This tactic was condemned in *Seibert*, 542 U.S. at 608, 613.

Seibert, however, is a plurality opinion where the combination of the four justice majority and concurring opinion amounts to a majority on the notion that delayed warnings are constitutionally suspect but without clear guidance on the rule courts should follow.

Seibert. 542 U.S. at 617 (plurality); *Id.* at 622 (Kennedy, J. concurring.). This ambiguity favors review by this Court to determine the test our courts should apply.

The Court of Appeals' reason for distinguishing *Seibert* here—that it was not "infrequent" for people to be interrogated for two hours, confess, and then receive *Miranda* warnings—does not adequately address this critical issue. Slip op. at 11. There is no debate that the police deliberately delayed *Miranda* during a lengthy interview for the purpose of obtaining a confession prior to giving Mr. Watkins notice of his rights to remain silent and receive the assistance of counsel. This was a purposefully devised interview process where *Miranda* warnings were consciously offered only after Mr. Watkins confessed and only then in a way that made it appear Mr. Watkins had little choice or reason to not repeat his admissions and elaborate upon them. This scenario is precisely what *Seibert* expressed as an improper mechanism for undermining the protections of *Miranda*.

The Court of Appeals also confused the legal analysis required for a dynamic interrogation that grows increasingly custodial. It summarily states that because the defendant in *Seibert* was arrested at the outset but Mr. Watkins was not, Mr. Watkins was not subjected to custodial interrogation. Slip op. at 11.

But no cases demand an outright formal arrest for *Seibert* to apply. This analysis ignores the progressively custodial nature of the

interrogation. Even if not custodial at the start like *Seibert*, the police obtained a confession to a lesser crime before giving *Miranda* warnings, which created a situation in which Mr. Watkins was being interrogated after supplying the police with a basis to arrest him. Ex. 60 at 47-45; Opening Brief at 19.

The Court of Appeals also relied on *State v. Lorenz*, 152 Wn.2d 22, 37, 93 P.3d 133 (2004), but that case is not only factually different, stemming from person's statement written at her own home where the police had grounds to arrest her, it was decided before *Seibert*. This Court has not issued any decisions addressing this question-first scenario that was criticized in *Seibert*.

Seibert dictates the question-first tactics undermined the voluntariness of these belatedly given Miranda warnings. This court should grant review.

- 3. The police unlawfully seized private property from Mr. Watkins' home pursuant to an overbroad search warrant.
 - a. A warrant must particularly state the items to be seized.

Under the Fourth Amendment's particularity requirement, a search warrant must demonstrate probable cause to search the place and seize the items described, and it "must describe the items to be seized

with particularity." *State v. Besola*, 184 Wn.2d 605, 609, 359 P.3d 799 (2015); *see Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. 452, 459, 131 S.Ct. 1849, 179 L.Ed.2d 865 (2011); U.S. Const. amend. 4; Const. art. I, § 7.

b. The warrant's generalized authorization to seize anything deemed relevant during the intrusion of the home violates the particularity requirement.

The police obtained warrants to search Mr. Watkins' current apartment and his parent's home "for evidence of the crime of Murder including but not limited to" specified items connected to the offense. CP 409. The warrant described specific items, such as "knife (Camo handle, black bladed), folding knife around 4" blade, camo hoody, dominion and control documents, tan boots . . . [and] black t-shirts with writing on them (one should have the name Ezekiel in Roman lettering across it)." CP 409. But it also said the police may take "any other item that Detectives reasonably believe may be associated with this crime." *Id*.

The authority to seize "any other item" gave the police general permission to rummage through all property to locate any item of interest, at the detectives' discretion. The warrant already explicitly listed the items the police had a reasoned basis to believe were associated with the offense and located in the home, such as the weapon

used and clothes worn. Consequently, the catchall "any other item" permitted police to seek out anything else that they did not have a basis to suspect it might be in the home or probable cause that it was connected to the crime.

Acting under this broad permission to take anything else they wished, the police went through all of Mr. Watkins' possessions and took far more than the warrant particularly described. They seized multiple journals, poems, a calendar, and writings that they used at trial. *See* 2/11/15RP 2239-58, 2373-75; 3/12/15RP 4181; CP 65-68; Exs. 15, 18, 20, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 34.

This broad authority is prohibited by the particularity requirement. It does not adequately protect individual property rights and authorizes an impermissibly wide-reaching search of a person's home. *See, e.g., State v. Garcia*, 140 Wn.App. 609, 622, 166 P.3d 848 (2007) (invalidating warrant that allowed search of "any and all" persons present as generalized suspicion that "violated the Fourth Amendment's requirement of particularity"). This Court should grant review.

4. The court improperly excused a sitting and qualified juror, over defense objection, based on a minor expediency concern in the middle of trial.

The state and federal constitutions protect an accused person's right to participate in the selection of a jury and to receive a fair trial by that selected jury. *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 85, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986); *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 884-85, 246 P.3d 796 (2011), U.S. Const. amends. 6, 14; Const. art. I, section 22. Even more protective than the federal constitution, Washington expressly guarantees the inviolate right to a 12-person jury and unanimous verdict in a criminal prosecution. *Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 884; *State v. Williams-Walker*, 167 Wn.2d 889, 896 n.2, 225 P.3d 913 (2010) ("greater protection" for jury trial rights under article I, sections 21 and 22 than federal constitution).

CrR 6.5 allows a court to excuse a juror only after it has "found" the person is "unable to perform the duties" of a juror. Under RCW 2.36.110, the court shall excuse a juror if she has "manifested unfitness as a juror by reason of bias, prejudice, indifference, inattention, or any physical or mental defect or by reason of conduct or practices incompatible with proper and efficient jury service."

The court must err on the side of caution by protecting the defendant's constitutional right to ensure that a juror is not dismissed for his views of the evidence. *State v. Depaz*, 165 Wn.2d 842, 854, 204 P.3d 217 (2009). The court abuses its discretion if its decision to dismiss a juror stems from using the wrong evidentiary standard. *State v. Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d 758, 778, 123 P.3d 72 (2005) ("once the proper evidentiary standard is applied, the trial court's evaluation of the facts is reviewable only for abuse of discretion"). In *Elmore*, the court failed to apply a heightened evidentiary standard when weighing conflicting evidence about whether a juror was participating in deliberations or was refusing to do so. *Id.* at 779. Because the court had not applied the correct evidentiary standard, the Supreme Court held that the trial court had improperly dismissed the juror. *Id.* at 780.

Near the end of the State's case-in-chief, Juror 13 learned his mother had gone to the hospital due to a fractured bone in her arm. 2/23/15RP 2892-93. He asked to leave two hours early to be sure his mother's insurance paperwork and medications were properly relayed to the hospital. *See* 2/23/15RP 2894 (court noted there were two hours and twenty minutes left in day).

Juror 13's mother lived in a managed care facility. *Id.* at 2892-93. He hoped to miss only the rest of the afternoon in court so he could verify her insurance information with medical providers. *Id.* at 2891. This hospital was five miles from the Kent courthouse, and Juror 13 said he "should be available again tomorrow." *Id.* at 2892.

The judge had adjourned early or adjusted the calendar a number of times, for himself, witnesses, and other jurors, including that very morning. *Id.* at 2876. But the court refused to let Juror 13 check his mother's hospital admission and return, over defense objection.

On this day of trial, no live witnesses were testifying; the evidence consisted of playing a lengthy videotape of Mr. Watkins' statement to the police. *Id.* at 2881.

Defense counsel offered to adjust its questioning of witnesses and juggle other witnesses to retain Juror 13. 2/24/15RP 2890, 2895, 2910. The court refused this short delay, preferring to excuse Juror 13 even though there was a good chance he would be available the next day. *Id.* at 2894, 2896.

In sum, the court removed Juror 13 because it refused to allow a minor trial delay even though the defense offered reasonable scheduling accommodations. And the parties knew witness scheduling issues

would arise the next day that had nothing to do with Juror 13. By striking a seated juror who merely needed a couple of hours for an emergency during a long case, when the evidence being presented could be rescheduled and the defense offered reasonable alternatives, the court acted arbitrarily.

CrR 6.5 allows the court to remove only an unfit juror whose behavior is "incompatible with proper and efficient jury service." The court did not make this finding. The court removed Juror 13 after a cursory determination of expediency even though the time saved was trivial, alternatives were available, and despite the defense objection. The unreasonable removal of the juror requires reversal. This Court should grant review.

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner Ezekial Watkins respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).