FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/21/2018 11:58 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 95602-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

EZEKIEL WATKINS,

Appellant-Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONNA L. WISE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

E. ARGUMENT

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT WATKINS WAS NOT IN CUSTODY WHEN POLICE BEGAN QUESTIONING HIM, AND THAT WHEN MIRANDA WARNINGS WERE GIVEN, HE EFFECTIVELY WAIVED THOSE RIGHTS.

Watkins claims that the recorded statements that he made to police on July 6, 2011, were admitted in violation of Miranda v.

Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966).

That argument was rejected by the Court of Appeals, and the decision of that court is well grounded in the facts and the law.

Watkins was 22 years old when he drove himself to the police department for an interview with a detective, which had been scheduled based on Watkins' convenience. CP 621; 13RP 15-17; Ex. 57, 11:24. The interview was not custodial when it began; Watkins was not restrained in any way, his cell phone and keys

were not taken from him, and he was told he was free to leave. CP 622; Ex. 57, 11:24. Watkins had on two prior occasions gone to the police station to discuss the disappearance of Kathy Chou and had been allowed to leave afterward. CP 628; 15RP 375-80, 397-400.

One hour and thirteen minutes after the interview began, Watkins said that he possibly stabbed Chou in the neck (accidentally). Ex. 57, 12:36. At that point, Watkins was advised of his Miranda rights. Ex. 57, 12:38. Watkins understood that he was not being detained: when Detective Barfield said they would like him to take them to the burial site that day, Watkins mentioned that he needed to get to work at 4 p.m. Ex. 57, 13:03.

In his petition, Watkins includes claims regarding his mental capacity that were opinions offered by defense experts and rejected by the trial court.⁴ The trial court found that the testimony and report of state expert Dr. Kenneth Muscatel were "more persuasive" on the issue of Watkins' mental capacity to waive his rights and to make voluntary statements. CP 627; PT Ex. 49 (Muscatel's report).

⁴ E.g., Watkins assertion that he has the cognitive abilities of a 6 to 9-year-old are based on the testimony of Dr. Natalie Novick Brown, whom the court did not find persuasive. Pet. at 6 (citing 1/15/15 RP 258, 262). Brown relied on the Vineland test to reach this conclusion, but the Vineland result was based almost entirely on the report of Watkins' mother about his level of functioning, and that report was at a time that Watkins' mother was aware he was facing a murder charge. 18RP 804-06; 20RP 25-26.

Muscatel opined that, while Watkins has cognitive impairment, he was capable of understanding his <u>Miranda</u> rights and able to knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive them.

18R 877. Muscatel had no question that Watkins was competent to understand, appreciate, and waive <u>Miranda</u> rights. 18RP 873.

Muscatel did not see any indication that Watkins was threatened or highly manipulated, noting that although there was some persuasive pressure applied, and use of guilt, it was not enough to prevent Watkins from making choices. 18RP 897.

Muscatel looked for something that would indicate Watkins could not understand or voluntarily waive his rights, but did not find it, in the testing, the police interviews, or in his own interviews; it was not even a close call. 18RP 898-99.

Watkins relies heavily on a Third Circuit Court of Appeals decision, <u>United States v. Jacobs</u>, 431 F.3d 99 (3rd Cir. 2005), asserting that the Court of Appeals here erred in concluding that Watkins was not in custody at the start of the July 6 police interview. However, the Court of Appeals thoroughly analyzed all of the relevant case law and concluded that the situation in <u>Jacobs</u> was factually distinguishable. <u>Watkins</u>, slip op. at 4-9.

The Court of Appeals also correctly observed that the tactic condemned by Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600, 602-03, 124 S. Ct. 2601, 159 L. Ed. 2d 643 (2004) was delay of Miranda advice that was required. Watkins, slip op. at 11. Because Watkins was not in custody, Miranda advice was not required at the start of this interview, so there was no improper delay.

The Court of Appeals held that substantial evidence supported the trial court's conclusion that Watkins' waiver of his Miranda rights was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Watkins, slip op. at 12. Watkins has not established any grounds for further review of that holding.

2. IF THE PRE-MIRANDA STATEMENTS WERE INADMISSIBLE BECAUSE WATKINS WAS IN CUSTODY, THE ERROR WAS HARMLESS.

If this Court accepts review, the State renews its argument below that even if the pre-Miranda statements were inadmissible, the post-Miranda statements were properly admitted, and any error in admitting the former statements was harmless.

If this Court concludes that Watkins was in custody before Miranda warnings were given, so the statements up to that point would be inadmissible in the State's case-in-chief, the statements that he made after being advised of his rights are admissible unless the original statements were actually coerced. Oregon v. Elstad, 470 U.S. 298, 309-11, 105 S. Ct. 1285, 84 L. Ed. 2d 222 (1985); State v. Ustimenko, 137 Wn. App. 109, 116, 151 P.3d 256 (2007). There is no evidence that the detectives attempted to undermine Watkins' ability to exercise free will before Miranda warnings were given, so there is no basis to find coercion. Elstad, 470 U.S. at 309. The trial court found that all of his statements were voluntarily made. CP 629. Even if a person "lets the cat out of the bag" in his initial responses, that is irrelevant to the admissibility of his post-Miranda statements. Ustimenko, 137 Wn. App. at 116.

3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING EVIDENCE THAT WATKINS BROUGHT A TROPHY OF THE KILLING TO HIS GIRLFRIEND, WHICH WAS HIGHLY PROBATIVE OF HIS STATE OF MIND.

If this Court accepts review, the State renews its argument on cross-appeal that the trial court erred in excluding evidence that Watkins brought a trophy of the killing to his girlfriend. The Court of Appeals did not reach the cross-appeal because it affirmed the conviction. Watkins, slip. op. at 4 n.3.

The State intended to offer evidence that shortly after
Watkins killed Chou and removed her boots, Watkins presented
those boots to Marlow, his current girlfriend. CP 93, 143; 16RP
537; 41RP 3962-63. The trial court excluded the evidence because
the court did not find it persuasive evidence of premeditation but
believed that the jury would find it compelling evidence of
premeditation. 41RP 3966-67. The court improperly concluded
that compelling evidence is unfairly prejudicial, and thus improperly
excluded the evidence, which was not inherently inflammatory.

A person's actions after a crime may be relevant because they tend to prove the intent with which an act was committed, or are inconsistent with innocence. ER 401; State v. Messinger, 8 Wn. App. 829, 836-37, 509 P.2d 382 (1973). Watkins agrees that his intent when he killed Chou was the central issue in this case, including his capacity to form intent and premeditation. App. Br. at 50. Watkins' presentation of Chou's boots to Marlow was relevant to the issues of intent and premeditation and the defense theory that Watkins acted accidentally or in self defense.

One of the reasons Watkins had decided to stab Chou, he explained, was that Chou had been threatening Marlow for six months. Ex. 59, 18:38-39. Watkins was devoted to Marlow and

was angry that Chou was threatening and upsetting Marlow.

Ex. 59, 18:38-39; 27RP 2266-68; 30RP 45-46; 38RP 3443-45.

When Watkins told Marlow that Chou was dead, he told her that
Chou would not be bothering Marlow any more. Ex. 59, 18:42-45;

28RP 2336. The presentation of the boots to Marlow was relevant
to the issue of intent because it indicated that shortly after the
killing, he was thinking clearly enough to take the boots so that he
could give them to Marlow. It was relevant to the issue of lack of
accident or self defense because that behavior is inconsistent with
those theories of the event. It was relevant to the issue of
premeditation because it indicated that he had killed Chou on
Marlow's behalf and brought her a trophy to demonstrate his
commitment to her.

Evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. ER 403. The court's decision to exclude the evidence on that basis was an evidentiary ruling, which will be reversed only for an abuse of discretion. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). A danger of unfair prejudice exists when evidence is "likely to stimulate an emotional response rather than a rational decision." State v. Barry, 184 Wn. App. 790, 801, 339 P.3d 200 (2014)

(quoting <u>State v. Beadle</u>, 173 Wn.2d 97, 120, 265 P.3d 863 (2011)). Examples of evidence that may be unfairly inflammatory include references to disfavored groups, such as the KKK, or terrorists, or references to behavior some would consider immoral. <u>Barry</u>, 184 Wn. App. at 802 (KKK); <u>State v. Haq</u>, 166 Wn. App. 221, 261-62, 268 P.3d 997 (2012) (terrorism, jihadis); <u>Messinger</u>, 8 Wn. App. at 837 (solicitation of a married woman).

There is nothing emotionally inflammatory about footwear, or giving footwear to a girlfriend. What is prejudicial about this evidence is not unfair prejudice, it is simply compelling evidence that when he killed Chou, Watkins had Marlow in mind. Because the trial court did not apply the correct legal definition of unfair prejudice and confused the unfair prejudice standard with the compelling probative force of evidence offered by the State, it erred in excluding the evidence.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The State respectfully asks that the petition for review be denied. However, if review is granted, in the interests of justice the State seeks cross-review of the issues identified in Section C and E(2) and (3), supra.

DATED this 21⁵ day of March, 2018.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE - APPELLATE UNIT

March 21, 2018 - 11:58 AM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

Appellate Court Case Number: 95602-2

Appellate Court Case Title: State of Washington v. Ezekiel James Watkins

Superior Court Case Number: 11-1-06580-1

The following documents have been uploaded:

956022_Answer_Reply_20180321115719SC761159_3309.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was 95602-2 ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

nancy@washapp.org

• wapofficemail@washapp.org

Comments:

Sender Name: Bora Ly - Email: bora.ly@kingcounty.gov

Filing on Behalf of: Donna Lynn Wise - Email: donna.wise@kingcounty.gov (Alternate Email:)

Address:

King County Prosecutor's Office - Appellate Unit W554 King County Courthouse, 516 Third Avenue Seattle, WA, 98104

Phone: (206) 477-9499

Note: The Filing Id is 20180321115719SC761159